
February 07, 2023

EA-20-134
EA-18-153

Kevin Satterlee, President
Idaho State University
921 S. 8th Ave., Stop 8130
Pocatello, Idaho 83209-8130

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT 030-32322/2022-001; 030-38726/2022-001; 
070-01374/2022-001

Dear President Satterlee:

This letter refers to the announced inspection conducted December 12-16, 2022, at Idaho State 
University’s (ISU’s) facilities in Pocatello, Idaho. The purpose of the inspection was to: 
(1) examine activities conducted under your licenses as they relate to safety and compliance 
with the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s (NRC’s) rules and regulations and with the 
conditions of your license; (2) review your corrective actions related to violations previously cited 
by the NRC; and (3) assess your completed actions related to the May 2, 2019, Confirmatory 
Order Modifying License (Order) EA-18-153.

The NRC performed routine inspections of licensed activities under NRC License Nos. 
11-27380-01, 11-27380-04, and SNM-1373. Within the areas inspected, the inspection 
consisted of a selected examination of procedures and representative records, observations of 
licensed activities, independent radiation measurements, and interviews with personnel. The 
enclosure to this letter presents the results of the inspection. The preliminary inspection findings 
were discussed with you and other members of your staff at the conclusion of the onsite 
inspection. 

Based on the results of this inspection, no violations were identified nor were any deficiencies 
identified regarding your completion of all actions associated with the Order. Additionally, 
violations cited in NRC Inspection Report 030-32322/2020-001; 030-38726/2020-001; 
070-01374/2020-001; EA-20-134 were closed. The enclosed inspection report describes the 
NRC’s review of actions completed under the Order and closure of previous violations. The final 
inspection findings were discussed with your Radiation Safety Officer, Mason Jaussi, on 
January 10, 2023. 

In accordance with Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations 2.390 of the NRC’s “Agency 
Rules of Practice and Procedure,” a copy of this letter and its enclosure will be made available 
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room and from the NRC’s 
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC 
website at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html. 

http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html
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If you have any questions concerning this matter, please contact Allyce Bolger of my staff at 
817-200-1197 or allyce.bolger@nrc.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Lizette Roldán-Otero, PhD, Chief
Materials Inspection Branch
Division of Radiological Safety and Security 

Docket Nos. 030-32322, 030-38726, 070-01374
License Nos. 11-27380-01, 11-27380-04, SNM-1373

Enclosure:
NRC Inspection Report 030-32322/2022-001; 030-38726/2022-001; 070-01374/2022-001

Cc (w/Enclosure): 
Martin Blair
Vice President for Research
Idaho State University
921 S. 8th Ave., Stop 8130
Pocatello, Idaho 83209-8130

Mason Jaussi
Radiation Safety Officer
Idaho State University
Idaho Accelerator Center
1500 Alvin Ricken Drive
Pocatello, Idaho 83209

Mark Dietrich
Radiation Control Program Director
Idaho Department of Environmental Quality
1410 North Hilton Drive
Boise, Idaho 83706

Signed by Roldan-Otero, Lizette
 on 02/07/23

mailto:allyce.bolger@nrc.gov
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Idaho State University
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Inspection Report Nos.

030-32322/2022-001; 030-38726/2022-001; and 070-01374/2022-001

During December 12-16, 2022, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) conducted an 
announced inspection at the licensee’s facilities located in Pocatello, Idaho. The objectives of 
the team inspection included but were not limited to: (1) reviewing the licensee’s corrective 
actions related to enforcement actions identified during the previous NRC inspection; (2) 
assessing the licensee’s completed actions related to a May 2, 2019, Confirmatory Order 
Modifying License (Order) EA-18-153; and (3) performing a routine inspection of activities 
conducted under NRC License Nos. 11-27380-01, 11-27380-04, and SNM-1373.

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions related to the five Severity Level 
(SL) III violations and four SLIV violations identified in NRC Inspection Report 
030-32322/2020-001; 030-38726/2020-001; 070-01374/2020-001 and Notice of Violation; 
EA-20-134 (ADAMS Accession Nos. ML21092A132, ML21204A171). The inspectors concluded 
that based on the licensee’s corrective actions, all violations could be closed.

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s compliance with the Order (ML19122A123) issued by 
the NRC. As of February 14, 2022, the licensee had completed all requirements of the Order. 
This included: (1) having an audit performed by a third-party; (2) performing a causal evaluation 
of the audit findings and previously issued NRC enforcement actions; (3) developing a 
corrective action plan and schedule for completion; (4) developing a management oversight 
procedure; and (5) performing four effectiveness reviews of the implemented corrective actions. 

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s activities under its NRC broad scope license, NRC 
license for radionuclide production using an accelerator, and NRC license for special nuclear 
material (SNM). No violations were identified during this inspection.

https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML21092A132
https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML21204A171
https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML19122A123
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REPORT DETAILS

1 Program Overview (Inspection Procedure (IP) 87126, 87125, Inspection Manual 
Chapter (IMC) 2800)

1.1 Program Scope

Idaho State University (ISU or licensee) was authorized under four different NRC 
licenses to possess and use byproduct, source, and SNM for various activities. The 
broad scope license, NRC License 11-27380-01, authorizes various activities associated 
with research and development as well as academic instruction. The production license, 
NRC License 11-27380-04, authorizes various licensed activities associated with 
research and development, production, possession, and use of radiochemicals. Certain 
activities associated with SNM are authorized under NRC License SNM-1373. The 
licensee operates a research and test reactor under NRC License R-110. 

Executive responsibility and authority for the administration of radiation safety at ISU 
was assigned to the President of ISU. The President has delegated the responsibility 
and authority to oversee the implementation and management of radiation safety to the 
Vice President of Research. The Vice President of Research appoints the Chair and 
other members of the Radiation Safety Committee (RSC). The Vice President of 
Research was also a member of the RSC. Activities associated with the research and 
test reactor and certain activities associated with SNM were under the purview of the 
licensee’s Reactor Safety Committee (ReSC).

At the time of the inspection, the licensee had 10 Authorized Users (AUs) that had been 
reviewed and approved by the RSC, including the Radiation Safety Officer (RSO), the 
Director of the Idaho Accelerator Center (IAC) and the Reactor Administrator. The RSC 
had approved 12 permits authorizing the use of radioactive material. Permits specified 
the AU; permitted use locations; permitted radionuclides, form, and activity limits; and 
permitted uses and restrictions. Permits ranged in complexity from the use of a 
hand-held x-ray fluorescence analyzer, physics related research, radioimmunotherapy in 
mice, and the use of a subcritical assembly. 

1.2 Inspection Scope

During December 12-16, 2022, the NRC conducted an announced routine inspection of 
the licensee’s activities under NRC License Nos. 11-27380-01, 11-27380-04, and 
SNM-1373. Although an inspection of NRC License R-110 was not performed, the 
inspectors reviewed certain SNM possessed under license R-110 for the purpose of 
assessing licensee compliance with accounting and reporting criteria related to SNM. 

The objectives of the inspection included but were not limited to: (1) reviewing
the licensee’s corrective actions related to enforcement actions from previously issued 
NRC inspection reports; (2) assessing the licensee’s completed actions related to a
May 2, 2019, Order; and (3) performing routine inspections of activities under NRC 
License Nos. 11-27380-01, 11-27380-04, and SNM-1373.

The inspectors observed licensed activities at the licensee’s facilities; reviewed records, 
procedures, and documents maintained by the licensee; performed independent 
radiation measurements; and interviewed licensee personnel. 
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2 Status of Previous Inspection Findings (IP 87126, IP 92703, IMC 2800)

2.1 Inspection Scope

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions related to previously issued 
NRC enforcement actions. This included a review of the licensee’s corrective actions 
taken to restore compliance and an evaluation as to whether the corrective actions were 
sufficient to prevent recurrence. The inspectors specifically reviewed the licensee’s 
corrective actions to address NRC Inspection Report 030-32322/2020-001; 
030-38726/2020-001; 070-01374/2020-001; EA- 20-134. 

2.2 Observations and Findings

Inspection Report 030-32322/2020-001; 030-38726/2020-001; 070-01374/2020-001; 
EA-20-134, dated April 2, 2021, described five apparent violations that were being 
considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the NRC Enforcement 
Policy and issued an NOV citing four SL IV violations. The licensee presented their 
perspectives of the apparent violations in a Pre-decisional Enforcement Conference on 
May 10, 2021. On July 22, 2021, the NRC issued another NOV citing five SL III 
violations.

2.2.1 Storage of SNM

A SL IV violation was cited against License Condition 9 of NRC License No. SNM-1373, 
Amendment No. 5, dated February 27, 2019, for the licensee’s failure to use SNM in 
accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions specified in the 
licensee's application supplement dated February 14, 2011. On March 12, 2020, the 
NRC identified that the licensee failed to store licensed material in a locked steel storage 
container in the designated room of the Lillibridge Engineering Laboratory Building when 
a uranium-235 (U-235) fission counter authorized by License No. SNM-1373, Item 6.B - 
8.B, was not stored in the locked steel storage container in the designated room of the 
Lillibridge Engineering Laboratory Building. 

As a corrective action, by March 15, 2021, the licensee moved the fission counter to the 
licensed location. As a preventive action, the licensee disposed of all their U-235 fission 
counters on June 21, 2022, as low-level radioactive waste through a licensed entity. The 
inspectors interviewed licensee personnel and reviewed records related to the storage 
and disposal of SNM. Specifically, the NRC toured the licensee’s facility and reviewed 
the NRC Form 540 for the waste shipment on June 21, 2022. The NRC observed that 
the U-235 fission counters had been disposed of in accordance with NRC requirements 
and that all other SNM was in the appropriate location as described in the license. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation with respect to the storage of U-235 fission counters were 
sufficient to consider violation 070-01374/2020-001-03 closed.
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2.2.2 Labeling of Radioactive Materials

A SL IV violation was cited against Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 
20.1904(a) for the licensee’s failure to label a plutonium-241 source, U-235 fission 
counters, and U-235 rodlets with a durable, clearly visible label that provided sufficient 
information to permit individuals handling or using the containers or working in the 
vicinity of the containers, to take precautions to avoid or minimize exposures. The 
inspectors interviewed licensee personnel and toured the licensee’s facility. The NRC 
observed that the plutonium-241 source and U-235 rodlets had durable, clearly visible, 
labels that provided sufficient information to permit individuals handling or using the 
containers or working in the vicinity of the containers, to take precautions to avoid or 
minimize exposures. The inspectors were unable to observe the U-235 fission counters 
since, as discussed Section 2.2.1, these items had been disposed. 

Additionally, the inspectors observed that the licensee adequately labeled various other 
sealed sources and radioactive samples throughout their facilities. Specifically, the NRC 
toured locations associated with SNM storage, accelerator laboratories, and R&D 
laboratories and determined that containers with licensed material were labeled 
appropriately. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation with respect labeling of containers with licensed material were 
sufficient to consider violation 030-32232/2020-001-01; 070-01374/2020-001-01 closed.

2.2.3 Order Condition A

A SL III violation was cited against Confirmatory Order EA-18-153, dated May 2, 2019, 
Section V, Condition A, for the licensee’s failure to have a third-party person complete a 
100 percent source inventory. Specifically, the inventory performed by the third-party 
person and submitted to the NRC on July 25, 2019, failed to account for licensed 
material in the licensee’s possession under NRC License Nos. SNM-1373 and R-110. 
As a corrective action, on June 18, 2020, the licensee had a third-party person account 
for the licensed material under NRC licenses SNM-1373 and R-110. The inspectors 
reviewed the report that was prepared by the third-party person and concluded that the 
licensee completed the 100 percent source inventory. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation with performing a complete inventory as required by the 
Confirmatory Order EA-18-153 were sufficient to consider violation 
030-32232/2020-001-03; 030-38726/2020-001-01; 070-01374/2020-001-02 closed. 

2.2.4 Use of SNM

A SL III violation was cited against Condition 9 of NRC License No. SNM-1373, 
Amendment No. 5, dated February 27, 2019, for the licensee’s failure to use SNM in 
accordance with the statements, representations, and conditions specified in the 
licensee's application supplement dated February 14, 2011. Specifically, the licensee 
failed to have its ReSC review and approve written procedures for the usage of the 
licensed materials in the subcritical assembly that included written procedures for: 
loading the neutron source into the subcritical assembly; handling the subcritical 
assembly fuel plates; use of radiation measuring and monitoring instruments; and 



6

restrictions and prohibitions regarding superior moderator or reflector materials to 
prevent inadvertent criticality. The subcritical assembly was used for the purpose of 
education, training, and research, and most frequently was used in an undergraduate 
laboratory class to facilitate experiments demonstrating the approach to criticality in a 
nuclear reactor. 

As corrective actions, the licensee developed a new procedure “Subcritical Assembly 
Procedure for the ISU Reactor.” The procedure was provided by the licensee to its 
ReSC for review and comment on October 29, 2020. The procedure was approved by 
the ReSC on April 12, 2021. Use of the subcritical fuel assembly was suspended until 
the procedure was approved. The inspectors reviewed the procedure, interviewed staff, 
and reviewed the subcritical fuel assembly logbook. The NRC determined that the 
procedure was developed to ensure the safe use of the subcritical fuel assembly. 
Additionally, staff were familiar with the procedure and a review of the logbook indicated 
that the procedure was routinely utilized. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure to have the ReSC review and 
approve a procedure for the subcritical fuel assembly were sufficient to consider violation 
070-01374/2020-001-04 closed. 

2.2.5 Am/Be Operating and Emergency Procedures

A SL III violation was cited against 10 CFR 33.13(c)(3)(ii) for the licensee’s failure to 
establish written operating and emergency procedures that took into consideration the 
necessary: training and experience of the users; equipment and training for removing 
and returning the source storage container from the storage shaft; radiation monitoring 
and detection equipment for radiation surveys and personnel monitoring; handling 
procedures for removing the americium-241/beryllium (Am/Be) source from the storage 
container, procedures for the establishment and control of high radiation areas; and 
emergency procedures. The Am/Be source contained a category 2 quantity of 
radioactive material and its one of the most risk significant sources possessed by the 
licensee in terms of health, safety, and security significance. 

As corrective actions, the licensee developed a new procedure “Americium Beryllium 
Source Access Procedure.” The procedure was reviewed and approved by the RSC and 
became effective on August 6, 2020. The licensee was not actively using this source. 
However, they removed it from storage approximately every 6 months to perform a leak 
test. The inspectors reviewed the procedure, interviewed staff, and reviewed the source 
access logbook. The NRC determined that the procedure was developed to ensure the 
safe access of the Am/Be source. Additionally, staff were familiar with the procedure and 
a review of the logbook indicated that the procedure was routinely utilized. Additionally, 
ISU intends to dispose of the Am/Be source in 2023.

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure establish written operating and 
emergency procedures for the Am/Be source were sufficient to consider violation 
030-32232/2020-001-05 closed. 
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2.2.6 Material Control and Accounting of SNM

A SL III violation was cited against 10 CFR 74.19(c) for the licensee’s failure to perform 
a physical inventory that consisted of a determination on a measured basis for the 
quantity of U-235 on hand at a given time. As corrective actions, the licensee developed 
a new procedure RS-28, Revision 0, “SNM Physical Inventory,” based on the methods 
set forth in ANSI N15.8 and guidance set forth in Regulatory Guide 5.29, “Special 
Nuclear Material Control and Accounting Systems for Nuclear Power Plants,” Revision 2. 
The procedure was reviewed and approved by the RSC and became effective on 
January 1, 2022. In March of 2022, the licensee performed a measurement-based 
inventory of all SNM possessed under their licenses. 

The inspectors reviewed the procedure, interviewed staff, and reviewed the 2022 SNM 
Inventory. The NRC determined that the procedure was developed to ensure SNM 
physical inventories were performed in accordance with NRC requirements. Additionally, 
staff were familiar with the procedure and a review of the 2022 SNM Inventory indicated 
that the licensee had performed a measurement-based inventory of all SNM possessed 
under their licenses. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure to perform a measurement-based 
physician inventory of SNM were sufficient to consider violation 030-32232/2020-001-04; 
070-01374/2020-001-05 closed. 

Additionally, A SL III violation was cited against 10 CFR 70.9 and 10 CFR 74.13 for the 
licensee’s failure to provide complete and accurate information with respective to the 
licensee’s Material Balance Report when a difference of 1 gram of U-235 was identified 
between the quantity possessed by the licensee and the quantity reported to Nuclear 
Materials Management and Safeguards System (NMMSS). The licensee determined that 
the error was attributed to rounding values of three transactions. Specifically, the 
licensee rounded the weights for three transactions then summed them; however, the 
values should not have been rounded prior to summation. As a corrective action the 
licensee developed a new procedure “Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards 
System (NMMSS) Report” based on the guidance set forth in NUREG/BR-006 and 
NUREG/BR-0007. The procedure was reviewed and approved by the RSC and became 
effective on January 15, 2022. 

In March of 2022 the licensee provided a complete and accurate Material Balance 
Report to NMMSS. The inspectors reviewed the procedure, interviewed staff, and 
reviewed the NMMSS reports since the last inspection. The NRC determined that the 
procedure was developed to ensure that NMMSS reporting was complete, accurate, and 
performed in accordance with NRC requirements. Staff were familiar with the procedure. 
A review of the 2022 NMMSS reports indicated that the licensee had provided complete 
and accurate information on the Material Balance Report. Additionally, licensee 
submitted an NRC Form 740M to explain the rounding difference to NMMSS on 
May 21, 2020, and the licensee provided correct and accurate masses on their renewal 
application for NRC License No. SNM-1373 that was submitted to the NRC on July 11, 
2021. Finally, the licensee’s RSO, ARSO, and lead NMMSS staff member participated in 
the NMMSS training in 2021. 
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The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure provide complete and accurate 
information regarding U-235 in Material Balance Reports submitted to the NMMSS were 
sufficient to consider violation 070-01374/2020-001-06 closed. 

2.2.7 Survey Meter Calibrations

A SL IV violation was cited against Condition 30 of NRC License No. 11-27380-01, 
Amendment No. 37, dated February 4, 2019, for the licensee’s failure to perform 
calibration of instruments in accordance with the guidance in NUREG-1556, Volume 11, 
Revision 1, dated February 2017, Appendix H, Section “Model Radiation Survey 
Instrument Calibration Program.” As a corrective action the licensee ceased performing 
their own calibrations for all dose rate survey instruments. 

The licensee revised procedure RS-12, Revision 1, “Instrument Calibration,” to state that 
instruments for measuring exposure and dose rates were to be calibrated by an 
independent and accredited calibration facility. Procedure RS-12 was reviewed and 
approved by the RSC on October 2, 2020. The inspectors reviewed the procedure, 
interviewed staff, and reviewed a sample of calibration records. The inspectors reviewed 
calibration records for dose rate survey instruments, confirming that the licensee was 
using a licensed calibration service provider.

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure to perform calibration of 
instruments in accordance with the guidance in NUREG-1556, Volume 11, Revision 1, 
dated February 2017, Appendix H, Section “Model Radiation Survey Instrument 
Calibration Program” were sufficient to consider violation 030-32232/2020-001-02 
closed.

2.2.8 SADZ Capsule Use and Storage

A SL IV violation was cited against Condition 30 of NRC License No. 11-27380-01, 
Amendment No. 37, dated February 4, 2019, for the licensee’s failure to use and store 
material, contained in a SADZ capsule, in accordance with their procedures. As 
corrective actions, the licensee revised their procedures and operations associated with 
the SADZ capsule. The revised procedures were fully implemented by April 26, 2021. 
The inspectors reviewed the procedure, interviewed staff, and verified the storage of the 
SADZ capsule. The NRC determined the procedure adequately addressed the 
deficiencies regarding the storage and use of material contained within the SADZ 
capsule. Additionally, the licensee intends to dispose of the material within the SADZ 
capsule in 2023. 

The inspectors determined that the licensee’s corrective actions and preventive actions 
to address the violation regarding the licensee’s failure to use and store material, 
contained in a SADZ capsule, in accordance with their procedures were sufficient to 
consider violation 030-32232/2020-001-06 closed.
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2.3 Conclusions

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions related to four SL IV and five 
SL III violations identified in NRC Inspection Report 030-32322/2020-001; 
030-38726/2020-001; 070-01374/2020-001; EA 20-134. The inspectors concluded that 
all violations could be closed. 

 
3 Status of Licensee Compliance with Confirmatory Order (IP 92703)

3.1 Inspection Scope

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s compliance with the Confirmatory Order dated 
May 2, 2019. The inspectors reviewed records, procedures, and documents related to 
the licensee’s compliance with the Order, including documents that were required to be 
submitted to the NRC pursuant to the Order. The inspectors also observed licensed 
facilities and activities and interviewed personnel regarding compliance with the Order. 

3.2 Observations and Findings

On January 10, 2019, the NRC issued Inspection Report 030-32322/2018-001; 
EA-18-153 (ML19011A015). The inspection report identified one apparent violation that 
was being considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the NRC 
Enforcement Policy. In response to the NRC’s January 10, 2019, letter and inspection 
report, ISU requested alternative dispute resolution to address the apparent violation. As 
a result of a successful alternative dispute resolution mediation session, commitments 
were made as part of a settlement agreement between ISU and the NRC. Specifically, 
ISU agreed that an Order would be issued in settlement of a disputed claim to avoid 
further action by the NRC. Accordingly, on May 2, 2019, the Order was issued to ISU. 
The legally binding Order required that ISU take certain actions by established dates. 
The Order was issued against all four NRC licenses held by ISU.

The previous NRC inspection conducted onsite from March 9-13, 2020, with a continued 
in-office review through March 29, 2021, reviewed the licensee’s compliance with the 
Order to date. Condition A, Condition B, Condition C.1, Condition C.2, and Condition E 
of the Order had been fully implemented at the time of the inspection. Additionally, 
Condition D and Condition F were in-progress and Condition G had not yet been started. 
The completed and in-progress Order conditions were reviewed as discussed in NRC 
Inspection Report 030-32322/2020-001; 030-38726/2020-001; 070-01374/2020-001. 

3.2.1  Order Condition D

Condition D of the Order required that within 60 days of receiving the third-party person 
causal evaluation and recommended corrective actions, ISU shall submit to the NRC its 
corrective action plan with a schedule for completion of the actions it takes. It further 
specified that if ISU determined that it will not adopt one or more recommended 
corrective actions from the third-party person, ISU must identify to the NRC, in its plan, 
the basis for not accepting the third-party recommendation(s). All corrective actions must 
be completed by ISU within 18 months of the corrective action plan submittal to the 
NRC.

https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML19011A015
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On January 4, 2020, the licensee’s third-party person completed the causal evaluation 
and provided it to ISU. Therefore, Condition D was due to the NRC within 60 days of 
January 4, 2020, which was March 4, 2020. The licensee provided the corrective action 
plan to the NRC on March 6, 2020 (ML20087K756).

The corrective action plan described programmatic corrective actions, which included a 
renewed ISU senior management commitment to the radiation safety program, 
addressing radiation safety program staffing issues, and developing new and/or revising 
existing radiation safety policies and procedures. Corrective actions also included 
updating and expanding radiation safety training, making improvements to the tracking 
of radioactive materials, performing radiation safety program evaluations, and making 
enhancements to tracking radiation safety tasks. The corrective action plan also included 
specific corrective actions that were taken to address previously issued violations from 
earlier NRC enforcement actions. In addition, the corrective action plan specifically 
addressed corrective actions related to the 18 recommendations from the audit from 
Order Condition C.1 and causal evaluation from Order Condition C.2.

The Order specifies that all corrective actions must be completed within 18 months of 
the corrective action plan submittal to NRC. Since the corrective action plan was 
submitted to the NRC on March 6, 2020, the corrective actions must be completed by 18 
months from that date, which is September 6, 2021. The inspectors identified that the 
licensee had completed all corrective actions timely as the final corrective action was 
completed on August 30, 2021. 

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s completion of their corrective actions and 
assessed if they addressed the root and contributing causes of the enforcement actions 
issued to the licensee between January 1, 2017, and May 2, 2019. Notably, the licensee 
had put significant efforts into correcting the causal factor regarding “upper management 
problems.” Specifically, ISU’s executive leadership, including the university President, 
were kept abreast of licensed operations, through routine meetings with the RSO and 
RSC Chair. Additionally, university leadership ensured that adequate resources such as 
appropriate staffing levels for radiation safety program management and funding for 
disposal of legacy materials no longer being utilized. 

Based on a review of licensee’s procedures and radiation protection program 
documents, interviews with staff, and a wholistic examination of current licensed 
operations, the inspectors determined that the licensee had implemented corrective 
actions as described in their plan and these actions were effective in addressing the 
issues that resulted in the Order. 

3.2.2 Order Condition F and Condition G

Condition F of the Order required that within 6 months after submitting the corrective 
action plan to the NRC and every 6 months thereafter, subject to Condition G, ISU will 
perform an effectiveness review of its corrective actions. As specified in the Order, the 
review must include at least one independent third-party person on the assessment 
team. Within 30 days of completion of the effectiveness review, ISU will submit a report 
to the NRC with the results of its review, the status of the corrective action plan, and the 
revisions/modifications to the corrective action plan to address any findings.

https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML20087K756
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The corrective action plan was submitted to the NRC on March 6, 2020; therefore, the 
licensee was required to perform the effectiveness review by September 6, 2020, and 
then submit it to the NRC within 30 days of completion and then every 6 months 
thereafter. On September 29, 2020, the licensee submitted its first effectiveness review 
(ML20309A287) which was reviewed during the last inspection. The licensee’s second 
(ML21109A340) and third (ML21280A372) effectiveness reviews were completed and 
submitted on April 1, 2021, and October 1, 2021, respectively. 

Condition G of the Order requires that within 6 months after completion of all corrective 
actions, ISU will perform a final effectiveness review and submit the report to the NRC. 
As discussed in Section 3.2.1, the licensee completed the implementation of their 
corrective actions on August 30, 2021, and therefore the final effectiveness review was 
due by February 28, 2022. The licensee submitted their final effectiveness review on 
February 14, 2022 (ML22047A300). 

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s second, third, and final effectiveness reviews. 
The inspectors found that the information documented in the effectiveness reviews was 
consistent with licensed activities observed. Based on interviews with staff, review of 
licensee documents, and observation of licensed activities, the inspectors determined 
that the licensee had performed adequate effectiveness reviews to ensure the timely and 
effective implementation of the corrective actions associated with the Order. 

3.3 Conclusions

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s compliance with the May 2, 2019, Order issued 
by the NRC. The licensee had completed all the requirements of the Order on February 
14, 2022. The inspectors determined that corrective actions were taken as described in 
the Order and no violations were identified. 

4 ISU Possession and Use of SNM and NMMSS Reporting (IMC 2800 Enclosure 2)

4.1 Inspection Scope

On December 12-16, 2022, the inspectors performed an announced, routine inspection 
of the licensee’s activities involving the possession and use of SNM. Activities involving 
SNM were conducted under the NRC License Nos. 11-27380-01, SNM-1373, R-110. 
The inspectors reviewed records, procedures, and documents maintained by the 
licensee, observed licensed facilities, materials, and activities, performed independent 
radiation measurements, and interviewed personnel. The inspectors also reviewed the 
licensee’s corrective actions related to previously issued violations involving the 
possession and use of SNM. The licensee’s reports to the NMMSS were also reviewed, 
and the inspectors conducted a visual inventory of the licensee’s SNM to verify the 
information reported by the licensee to the NMMSS.

4.3 Observations and Findings

The inspectors reviewed the facilities that were used by the licensee for the use and 
storage of SNM. All SNM was found to be stored in appropriate containers and properly 
secured to prevent unauthorized access. Since the last inspection the licensee had 
transferred various SNM to the U.S. Department of Energy and disposed of SNM 
through a licensed entity. These steps reduced the total amount of SNM present at the 

https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML20309A287
https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML21109A340
https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML21280A372
https://adamswebsearch2.nrc.gov/webSearch2/main.jsp?AccessionNumber=ML22047A300


12

licensee’s facilities. The inspectors reviewed the SNM physical inventory and NMMSS 
transaction reports. The NRC confirmed that the licensee made these transfers of SNM 
in accordance with NRC requirements. Additionally, since the last inspection, the 
licensee containerized SNM that was not in active use. Each SNM container had a 
tamper indicating device affixed to ensure no material was removed. This increased the 
security of the SNM while also allowing the licensee to perform required inventories with 
accuracy. 

The inspectors reviewed the various uses of SNM at ISU. In particular, the inspectors 
examined the licensee’s use of a subcritical assembly, use of the AGN-201m reactor, 
and storage of various SNM foils. The inspectors observed the licensee perform a visual 
inventory of all the items from the 2022 SNM physical inventory that had not been 
disposed of as described in Section 2 of this report. The inspectors compared the visual 
inventory and physical inventory to the NMMSS records. No discrepancies were 
observed. 

The inspectors review of the adequacy of the licensee’s corrective actions for previous 
violations associated with the possession and use of SNM were described in Section 2.2 
of this report.

4.4 Conclusions

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s possession and use of SNM under NRC License 
Nos. 11-27380-01, SNM-1373, R-110 and did not identify any violations.

5 ISU Production License 11-27380-04

5.1 Inspection Scope

On December 12-16, 2022, the inspectors performed an announced, routine inspection 
of the licensee’s activities under NRC License 11-27380-04 for radionuclide production 
using an accelerator. The inspectors reviewed records, procedures, and documents 
maintained by the licensee, observed licensed facilities and activities, performed 
independent radiation measurements, and interviewed personnel.

5.2 Observations and Findings

The activities conducted under NRC License 11-27380-04 involve research and 
development, as well as the production, handling, storage, possession, packaging, and 
distribution of radiochemicals for transfer of those radiochemicals to licensed and 
authorized recipients. Activities conducted under the license occur at the IAC where the 
licensee operates multiple linear accelerators.

The primary licensed activity involves the production of copper-67 (Cu-67) chloride. In 
addition to the primary Cu-67 accelerator room there are dedicated areas for chemical 
processing. The inspectors reviewed the Cu-67 production process from target 
bombardment to dry chemistry sublimation, to wet chemistry chemical separation, to 
quality assurance and quality control, to packaging and preparation for shipment. The 
Cu-67 process was tightly controlled by a series of standard operating procedures. 
Additionally, the licensee utilized Radiological Work Permits to control contamination. 
The Radiological Work Permits provided guidance on required personal protective 
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equipment and survey requirements for routine and non-routine work evaluations 
associated with the production of Cu-67.

The inspectors observed demonstrations of the licensee’s process for producing Cu-67 
chloride, including loading of an accelerator with a mock target and its removal. 
Throughout the process, licensee personnel were observed to follow appropriate 
radiation safety practices that took as low as is reasonably achievable (ALARA) 
considerations into account. During dry chemistry sublimation operations, the operator 
receives the activated target, measures its weight, heats it in a furnace to the point 
where copper sublimates, and then measures the mass difference. The process moves 
to wet chemistry chemical separation where the copper was dissolved in acid through 
multiple stages to yield high purity Cu-67. Radioactive purity was measured with a high 
purity germanium detector. Samples are extracted for quality assurance/quality control 
and for chemical purity analysis. After the samples are analyzed, the Cu-67 chloride was 
prepared for shipping to licensed and authorized recipients. The license conservatively 
tracks effluent releases throughout the process using the mass difference as the basis 
for effluent releases. 

The inspectors observed the licensee’s radiation safety procedures and processes 
during various operational stages, including the performance of ambient, personnel, and 
radioactive contamination surveys, and the use of personal protective equipment, step 
off pads, dosimeters, warning lights, radiation safety postings, and safety interlocks. 
Gamma and neutron area monitors were also utilized in various operational areas. The 
licensee possessed operable and calibrated hand-held survey instruments for both 
neutron and gamma detection. Independent gamma surveys performed by the 
inspectors were consistent with licensee measurements. 

In addition to the production of Cu-67 chloride, the licensee also activates various 
targets for internal and external researchers. Since the last inspection, the licensee had 
produced xenon-133 in a sealed capsule and scandium-47 for the Department of 
Energy. In both cases, the licensee developed a protocol describing the overall process 
with emphasis on the required engineering controls and administrative controls. These 
protocols were reviewed and approved by the licensee’s RSC prior to commencement of 
the work. 

The inspectors reviewed three contamination incidents that had occurred since the 
previous NRC routine inspection. Two incidents involved personnel becoming 
contaminated with small amounts of Cu-67 during the production process. The third 
indecent involved an induvial becoming contaminated with a small amount of 
tungsten-181 during the servicing of the accelerator cooling system. The three incidents 
were unrelated. In all three cases, the licensee followed established procedures for 
decontamination of the individuals involved and determined that the radiation dose was 
less than 10 millirem to the individuals. The inspectors determined that the licensee was 
correct in its assessment that none of the events required reporting to the NRC. The 
actions taken by the licensee in response to the incidents, as well as the corrective 
actions implemented by the licensee, were found to be appropriate. 

The inspectors examined the licensee’s transportation activities associated with Cu-67. 
Individuals involved with the preparation of packages and documents related to shipping 
had required training. The licensee utilized a checklist to properly prepare packages and 
documentation for shipping. The licensee obtained Type A shipping containers from a 
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vendor that performed package certification. Packaging materials and containers used 
by the licensee were appropriate for the quantity and type of materials being shipped 
and were prepared with required labels and markings. The licensee performed and 
documented surveys of packages prepared for shipping as appropriate. 

5.3 Conclusions

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s activities under NRC License 11-27380-04 for 
radionuclide production using an accelerator. The inspectors reviewed records, 
procedures, and documents maintained by the licensee, observed licensed facilities and 
activities, performed independent radiation measurements, and interviewed personnel. 
No violations were identified associated with the specific activities performed under NRC 
License 11-27380-04.

6 ISU Broad Scope License 11-27380-01

6.1 Inspection Scope

On December 12-16, 2022, the inspectors performed an announced, routine inspection 
of the licensee’s activities under NRC License 11-27380-01 for authorized broad scope 
activities. The inspectors reviewed records, procedures, and documents maintained by 
the licensee, observed licensed facilities and activities, performed independent radiation 
measurements, and interviewed personnel. The inspectors also reviewed the licensee’s 
corrective actions related to previously issued violations involving broad scope activities.

As an Academic Type A broad scope licensee, the NRC grants significant 
decision-making authority to ISU through the license. The broad scope license issued to 
ISU authorizes the possession and use of a wide range of radioactive materials, 
including byproduct materials and certain SNM. Type A licenses of broad scope are 
typically large licensed-programs and encompass a broad range of uses and locations of 
use. Type A broad scope licensees use an RSC, RSO, and criteria approved by the 
NRC during the licensing process to review and approve all uses of radioactive material 
and AU’s. Type A broad scope licensees must establish administrative controls and 
provisions related to organization and management, procedures, recordkeeping, 
material control and accounting, and management review as necessary to ensure safe 
operations.

6.2 Observations and Findings

The radiation safety department was responsible for the day-to-day operations of 
licensed activities performed under the broad scope. The radiation safety department 
had three full time radiation safety staff, including the RSO, and two part time student 
staff members. The licensee had 10 AU’s that were responsible for 12 permits 
authorizing the use of radioactive material. Two of these permits, Permit No. IPD-03 and 
Permit No. 72 were for production activities performed under NRC License 11-27380-04 
and experiments using the subcritical assembly under NRC License SNM-1373, 
respectively. Permits specified the AU; permitted use locations; permitted radionuclides, 
form, and activity limits; and permitted uses and restrictions. Prior to authorization, a new 
or revised permit is presented to the RSC, the RSO works directly with the AU to ensure 
the activities requested were appropriately developed to ensure safe use or radioactive 
materials.
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The inspectors walked down several of the permitted locations at the ISU main campus 
and at the IAC but did not observe permitted activities at the Center for Advanced 
Energy Studies. During the facilities tours the inspectors interviewed AUs and radiation 
workers under the supervision of an AU. Licensed observations included activities 
involving both sealed sources and dispersible materials. Laboratory facilities were well 
maintained and appropriate ALARA practices were used. Areas of use and storage were 
appropriately posted and controlled. Each container of radioactive materials had a label 
as required by 10 CFR 20.1901. 

Waste generated by AUs was segregated and stored as described in procedure RS-09, 
Revision 0, “Radioactive Waste Management.” Additions to waste containers were 
documented on a Waste addition Log Form and when the container was full the AUs 
would contact the radiation safety staff for pick up. Radiation safety staff would collect 
the waste and transfer it to the licensee’s radioactive waste storage facility on campus. 
Waste was disposed of via three means, decay-in-storage for waste with a half-life of 
less than 120 days, discharged into the sewer, or using a waste broker. For discharge of 
waste into the sewer, the radiation safety staff verified the material was readily soluble 
and evaluated that discharging the waste into the sanitary sewer would not exceed NRC 
or Pocatello city limits. 

The inspectors reviewed the "ISU Determination of Exposure to Individual members of 
the public" for 2020 and 2021. This covered air effluent, sewer releases, area monitors, 
and a reactor survey at full power. The licensee appropriately used occupational factors 
for area monitors. For air emissions, they used mass balance for the copper from the 
accelerator, and then used an inventory and conservative release fraction to determine a 
worst case released activity. They input the worst-case release into COMLPY, a 
computerized screening tool for evaluating radiation exposure from atmospheric 
releases of radionuclides. Results for effluent and area monitors demonstrated that the 
licensee conducted operations such that no individual member of the public would 
receive a dose exceeding 10 CFR Part 20 limits.

The broad scope permits identified if personnel monitoring was required for those 
activities. Dosimetry was provided by Landauer and exchanged quarterly. Most badged 
personnel were below 100 mrem annually, however, individuals involved with IAC 
operations received higher occupational exposures, but still well below the annual limits 
established in 10 CFR 20.1201. The RSC reviewed dosimetry results quarterly and 
discussed any abnormal results. The licensee had established ALARA thresholds that 
personnel do not exceed 1000 mrem/year or 300 mrem/quarter. While the inspectors 
found that licensed activities were ALARA, the thresholds established by the license 
were higher than expected for the types of activities performed and discussed with the 
RSO to consider lowering the values to be more practical. 

For permits that had ceased activities, in full or in part, the licensee took prompt action to 
begin decommissioning areas, as necessary, to release for unrestricted use. In 2021 
and 2022, the licensee had decommissioned seven areas of use. Decommissioning was 
conducted in accordance with procedure RS-17, “Decommissioning Survey.” Records 
associated with the decommissioning described the types and forms of licensed material 
used, instrumentation used to perform contamination and dose rate surveys, areas that 
were surveyed and the results. The inspectors did not identify any issues with the 
licensee’s decommissioning activities. 
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The licensee possessed one source that was required to meet the physical protection 
program elements in 10 CFR Part 37. However, the licensee used the exemption in 
10 CFR 37.11(b) to include the source in the licensee’s security plan required by 10 
CFR Part 73. 

The licensee performed an annual review of the radiation protection program across all 
four NRC licenses, which included performing laboratory evaluations for each permit as 
described in RS-6, “Radioactive Materials Laboratory Evaluations.” The laboratory 
evaluations verified that AUs were complying with the requirements of their permit and 
requirements set in the Radiation Safety Manual. The radiation safety staff performing 
the evaluations would make note of any deficiencies and actions taken to correct the 
issues. Radiation workers and AUs received annual training.

The licensee had an RSC, whose composition included the RSO, management 
representation, and persons trained in the safe use of radioactive materials. The RSC 
met quarterly and discussed licensed activities at an appropriate level commensurate 
with proposed and on-going licensed activities. This included discussions, including but 
not limited to, dosimetry and survey results, emissions, non-compliances, approving new 
and revised permits, modifying procedures, reviewing audits, etc. 

The inspectors performed independent surveys (the instrumentation used are listed in 
the Attachment) and did not identify any concerns. No reportable events had occurred 
during the inspection review period. 

The inspectors review of the adequacy of the licensee’s corrective actions for previous 
violations associated with broad scope activities were described in Section 2.2 of this 
report.

6.3 Conclusions

The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s broad scope activities under NRC License No. 
11-27380-01 and did not identify any violations. 

7 Exit Meeting Summary

On January 10, 2023, a final telephonic exit meeting was conducted with Mason Jaussi 
to discuss the final inspection findings.



Attachment

Supplemental Inspection Information

PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED

Kevin Satterlee, President
Martin Blain, Vice President for Research
Mason Jaussi, CHP, Radiation Safety Officer
Kishor Paudel, PhD, Assistant Radiation Safety Officer
Jon Stoner, RSC Chair, Director of the IAC
Mary Lou Dunzik-Gougar, PhD, Reactor Administrator
Kristi Moser-McIntire, Safety Officer (Center for Advanced Energy Studies)
Bryson Blad, Radiochemist
Kevin Folkman, Accelerator Engineer
Chad O’Neill, Accelerator Supervisor
Brandon Jenkins, Radiation Safety Technician
Roy Dunker, Authorized User
Richard Brey, Ph.D., Authorized User

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED

87126 Broad Scope Academic and Research & Development Programs
87125 Materials Processor/Manufacturer Programs
92703 Followup of Confirmatory Action Letters or Orders
IMC 2800 Revision dated March 2, 2020, Enclosure 2 – Information for the Inspection of 

Licensees Holding NMMSS Accounts

ITEMS OPENED, CLOSED, AND DISCUSSED

Opened

None

Closed

030-32232/2020-001-01 VIO Failure to ensure that each container of licensed material
070-01374/2020-001-01 bore a durable, clearly visible label that provided sufficient

information. (10 CFR 20.1904(a))

030-32232/2020-001-02 VIO Failure to calibrate radiation survey instruments in 
accordance with licensee procedures. (License No. 
11-27380-01, Amendment No. 37, License Condition 30)

030-32232/2020-001-03 VIO Failure to perform a complete inventory of all material
030-38726/2020-001-01 possessed by the licensee under its four NRC licenses.
070-01374/2020-001-02 (NRC Order issued May 2, 2019)
050-00284/2020-001-01

070-01374/2020-001-03 VIO Failure to store certain SNM licensed under SNM-1373 in 
the designated storage location. (License No. SNM-1373, 
License Condition 9) 
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070-01374/2020-001-04 VIO Failure of the ReSC to review and approve plans and
procedures for the usage of the licensed materials in the 
subcritical assembly. (License No. SNM-1373, License 
Condition 9)

030-32232/2020-001-04 VIO Failure to perform a physical inventory that consisted of a
070-01374/2020-001-05 determination on a measured basis for the quantity of SNM
050-00284/2020-001-02 on hand at a given time. (10 CFR 74.19)  

  
070-01374/2020-001-06 VIO Failure to provide complete and accurate information 

regarding U-235 in Material Balance Reports submitted to 
the NMMSS. (10 CFR 70.9; 10 CFR 74.13) 

030-32232/2020-001-05 VIO Failure to establish appropriate administrative procedures 
to assure completion of safety evaluations of proposed 
uses of byproduct material. (10 CFR 33.13(c)(3)(ii))

030-32322/2020-001-06      VIO Failure to conduct program in accordance with License 
Conditions related to SADZ capsule use and storage 
(License No. 11-27380-01, Amendment No. 37, License 
Condition 30)

LIST OF ACRONYMS USED

10 CFR Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations 
ADAMS Agencywide Documents Access and Management System
ALARA As Low As Is Reasonably Achievable
Am/Be Americium-241/Beryllium
AU Authorized User
Cu-67 Copper-67
EA Enforcement Action
IAC Idaho Accelerator Center
IMC Inspection Manual Chapter
IP Inspection Procedure
ISU Idaho State University
NMMSS Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System
NRC U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Order Confirmatory Order Modifying License
ReSC Reactor Safety Committee
RSC Radiation Safety Committee
RSO Radiation Safety Officer
SL Severity Level
SNM Special Nuclear Material
U-235 Uranium-235
VIO Violation
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LIST OF INSTRUMENTATION USED

Manufacturer Model Serial Number Calibration Due Date
Thermo RadEye G 377 May 10, 2023
Thermo RadEye G 30652 July 14, 2023
Thermo RadEye G 30902 November 9, 2023


